UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE
BEFORE THE SECRETARY OF AGRICULTURE

In re:
Darrall S. McCulloch,
Phillip Trimble, and
Silverst one T raining , L.L.C .,
Respon dents

)
)
)
)
)
)
)

HPA Docket No. 02-0002

Decision and Order as to
Phillip Tr imble

PROCEDURAL HISTORY
The Administrator, Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service, United States
Department of Agriculture [hereinafter C omplainant], instituted this disciplinary
administrative proceeding by filing a “Complaint” on February 4, 2002. Complainant
instituted the proceeding under the Horse Protection Act of 1970, as amended (15 U.S.C.
§§ 1821-1831) [hereinafter the Horse Protection Act]; the regulations issued under the
Horse Protection Act (9 C.F.R. pt. 11) [hereinafter the Horse Protection Regulations]; and
the Rules of Practice Governing Formal Adjudicatory Proceedings Instituted by the
Secretary Under Various Statutes (7 C.F.R. §§ 1.130-.151) [hereinafter the Rules of
Practice].
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Complainant alleges that on April 29, 2000, Phillip Trimble [hereinafter
Responden t],1 in violat ion of s ection 5 (2)(B) o f the H orse Pr otection Act (15 U.S.C . §
1824(2)(B)), entered, for the purpose of showing or exhibiting, a horse known as
“Pushov er The T op” as en try number 1 86 in class n umber 4 8 at the 2nd Annua l Gulf
Coast C harity Celebratio n Walkin g Horse S how, in P anama C ity Beach, Florid a, while
the horse was sore as defined in section 11.3(a) of the Horse Protection Regulations
(9 C.F.R. § 11.3(a)) (C ompl. ¶ II(6)).
The Hearing Clerk served Respondent with a copy of the Complaint, a copy of the
Rules of Practice, and a service letter on February 10, 2002.2 Respondent failed to file an
answer to the Complaint within 20 days after service of the Complaint, as required by
section 1.136(a) of the Rules of Practice (7 C.F.R. § 1.136(a)). On March 11, 2002, the
Hearing Clerk sent a letter to Respondent informing him that his answer to the Complaint
had not been filed within the time required in the Rules of Practice.3
On October 11, 2002, in accordance with section 1.139 of the Rules of Practice
(7 C.F.R. § 1.139), Complainant filed a “Motion for Adoption of Proposed Decision and

1

Some of the filings in this proceeding indicate the correct spelling of
Respon dent’s nam e may be “P hilip Trimb le” (See Fe bruary 10, 20 03, Affid avit of Philip
Sebastian T rimble). Re ferences in this Decisio n and O rder as to Ph illip Trimble to
“Phillip Trim ble” and to “Philip Trim ble” are to R esponde nt.
2

3

See Domestic Return Receipt for Article Number 7099 3400 0014 4584 7816.

See letter dated March 11, 2002, from Joyce A. Dawson, Hearing Clerk, Office of
Admin istrative Law Judges, U nited States D epartmen t of Agricu lture, to Resp ondent.
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Order” [hereinaf ter Motion for D efault Decision] and a “Proposed D ecision and Orde r”
[hereinafter Propose d Default De cision]. On Nov ember 19, 2002 , the Hearing Clerk
served Respon dent with Com plainant’s Motion fo r Default Decision a nd Comp lainant’s
Proposed Default Decision.4 Responden t failed to file objections to Com plainant’s
Motion for Def ault Decisio n and C omplaina nt’s Propo sed Def ault Decisio n within
20 days a fter serv ice, as re quired by section 1.139 o f the R ules of Practice (7 C.F .R. §
1.139).
On December 30, 2002, pursuant to section 1.139 of the Rules of Practice
(7 C.F.R. § 1.139), Chief Administrative Law Judge James W. Hunt [hereinafter the
Chief ALJ] issued a “Decision and Order as to Phillip Trimble and Silverstone Training,
L.L.C. Upon Admission of Facts by Reason of Default” [hereinafter Initial Decision and
Order]: (1) finding that on April 29, 2000, Respondent entered a horse known as
“Pushover The Top” for the purpose of showing or exhibiting the horse as entry number
186 in class number 48 at the 2nd Annual Gulf Co ast Charity Celebration Walking Horse
Show, in Panama City Beach, Florida, while the horse was sore; (2) concluding
Respo ndent v iolated s ection 5 (2)(B) o f the H orse Pr otection Act (15 U.S.C . §
1824(2)(B)) by entering “Pushover The Top” while the horse was sore as defined in
section 11.3(a) of the Horse Protection Regulations (9 C.F.R. § 11.3(a)); (3) assessing

4

See Memorandum to the File dated November 19, 2002, signed by Lolita Ellis,
Assistant Hearing Clerk, Office of Administrative Law Judges, United States Department
of Agriculture.
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Respondent a $2,200 civil penalty; and (4) disqualifying Respondent for 1 year from
showing, exhibiting, or entering any horse and from judging, managing, or otherwise
participating in any horse show, horse exhibition, horse sale, or horse auction (Initial
Decision and O rder at 2-3).
On February 20, 2003, Respondent appealed to the Judicial Officer. On March 17,
2003, Complainant filed “Opposition to Respondents’ Motion to Set Aside the Decision
and Order as to Phillip Trimble” [hereinafter Response to Appeal Petition]. On
March 18, 2003, the Hearing Clerk transmitted the record to the Judicial Officer for
consideration and decision.
Based u pon a care ful conside ration of the record and pursuant to section 1.14 5(i)
of the Rules of Practice (7 C.F.R. § 1.145(i)), I adopt the Chief ALJ’s Initial Decision and
Order as it relates to Respondent as the final Decision and Order as to Phillip Trimble.5
Additional conclusions by the Judicial Officer follow the Chief ALJ’s findings of fact and
conclusions of law, as restated.

5

The Initial Decision and Order relates to both Respondent and Silverstone
Training, L.L.C. Silverstone Training, L.L.C., did not appeal the Initial Decision and
Order. Th erefore, this f inal Decisio n and O rder only relates to Respon dent.
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APPLICABLE STATUTORY AND REGULATORY PROVISIONS
15 U.S .C.:
TITLE 15—COMMERCE AND TRADE
....
CHAPTER 44—PROTECTION OF HORSES
§ 1821. Definitions
As used in this chapter unless the context otherwise requires:
....
(3)

The term “sore” when used to describe a horse means

that—
(A) an irritating or blistering agent has been applied,
internally or externally, by a person to any limb of a horse,
(B) a ny burn, cu t, or la cera tion has b een i nflic ted b y a
person on any limb of a horse,
(C) any tack, nail, screw, or chemical agent has been
injected by a person into or used by a person on any limb of a
horse, or
(D) a ny oth er su bstance o r dev ice h as be en used b y a
person on any limb of a horse or a person has engaged in a
practice involving a horse,
and, as a result of such application, infliction, injection, use, or
practice, such horse suffe rs, or can reasonably be expec ted to suffer,
physical pain or distress, inflammation, or lameness when walking,
trotting, or otherwise moving, except that such term does not include
such an a pplication, inf liction, injection, u se, or practice in
connection with the therapeutic treatment of a horse by or under the
supervision of a perso n licensed to practice vete rinary medicin e in
the State in which such treatment was given.
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§ 1824. Unla wful acts
The following conduct is prohibited:
....
(2) The (A) showing or exhibiting, in any horse show or
horse exhibition, of any horse which is sore, (B) entering for the
purpose of showing or exhibiting in any horse show or horse
exhibition, any horse which is sore, (C) selling, auctioning, or
offering f or sale, in any ho rse sale or au ction, any horse which is
sore, and (D) allowing any activity described in clause (A), (B), or
(C) respecting a horse which is sore by the owner of such horse.
§ 1825. Violations and penalties
....
(b)

Civil penalties; review and enforcement

(1) Any pers on who violates sectio n 1824 o f this title shall be liab le
to the United States for a civil penalty of not more than $2,000 for each
violation. No penalty shall be assessed unless such person is given notice
and opportunity for a hearing before the Secretary with respect to such
violation. The amount of such civil penalty shall be assessed by the
Secretary by written order. In determining the amount of such penalty, the
Secretary shall take into account all factors relevant to such determination,
including the nature, circumstances, extent, and gravity of the prohibited
conduct and, with respect to the person found to have engaged in such
conduct, th e degree o f culpability, any histo ry of prior off enses, ability to
pay, effect on ability to continue to do business, and such other matters as
justice m ay require .
....
(c)

Disqualification of offenders; orders; civil penalties applicable;
enforcement procedures

In addition to any fine, imprisonment, or civil penalty authorized
under this section, any person who was convicted under subsection (a) of
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this section or who pa id a civil pena lty assessed und er subsectio n (b) of this
section or is su bject to a fina l order und er such sub section asse ssing a civil
penalty for any violation of any provision of this chapter or any regulation
issued under this chapter may be disqualified by order of the Secretary, after
notice and an opportunity for a hearing before the Secretary, from showing
or exhibiting any horse, judging or managing any horse show, horse
exhibition, or horse sale or auction for a period of not less than one year for
the first violation and not less than five years for any subsequent violation.
15 U.S.C. §§ 1 821(3), 1824(2), 182 5(b)(1), (c).
28 U.S .C.:
TITLE 28—JUDICIARY AND JUDICIAL PROCEDURE
....
PART VI—PARTICULAR PROCEEDINGS
....
CHAPTER 163—FINES, PENALTIES AND FORFEITURES
§ 2461. Mode of recovery
....
F EDERAL C IVIL P ENALTIES INFLATION A DJUSTMENT
SHORT T ITLE

S ECTION 1. This Act may be cited as the “Federal Civil Penalties
Inflation Adjustment Act of 1990”
FINDINGS AND PURPOSE

S EC. 2. (a) F INDINGS.–The C ongress fin ds that–
(1) the power of F ederal agencies to impo se civil monetary
penalties for violations of Federal law and regulations plays an
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important ro le in deterring violations an d furthering the policy goa ls
embodied in such laws and regulations;
(2) the impact of many civil monetary penalties has been and
is diminished due to the effect of inflation;
(3) by reducing the impact of civil monetary penalties,
inflation has weakened the deterrent effect of such penalties; and
(4) the Fed eral Gov ernment d oes not m aintain
comprehensive, detailed accounting of the efforts of Federal
agencies to assess and collect civil monetary penalties.
(b) P URPOSE–The purpose of this Act is to establish a mechanism
that shall–
(1) allow f or regular ad justment fo r inflation of civil
monetary penalties;
(2) maintain the deterrent effect of civil monetary penalties
and promote compliance with the law; and
(3) improv e the collectio n by the Fede ral Gove rnment of civil
monetary penalties.
DEFINITIONS

S EC. 3. For purposes of this Act, the term–
(1) “agency” means an Executive agency as defined under
section 105 of title 5, United States Code, and includes the United
States Postal Service;
(2) “civil monetary penalty” means any penalty, fine, or other
sanction tha t–
(A)(i) is for a specific monetary amount as provided
by Federal law; or
(ii) has a maximum amount provided for by Federal
law; and
(B) is assesse d or enfo rced by an ag ency pursua nt to
Federal law; and
(C) is assessed or enforced pursuant to an
administrative proceeding or a civil action in the Federal
courts; and
(3) “Consumer Price Index” means the Consumer Price Index
for all-urban consum ers published by the Dep artment of Labo r.
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CIVIL MONETARY PENALTY INFLATION
ADJUSTMENT REPORTS

S EC. 4. The head of each agency shall, not later than 180 days after
the date of enactment of the Debt Collection Improvement Act of 1996
[Apr. 26, 1996], an d at least once every 4 years thereafter–
(1) by regulation adjust each civil monetary penalty provided
by law within the jurisdiction of the Federal agency, except for any
penalty (including any addition to tax and additional amount) under
the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 [26 U.S.C. 1 et seq.], the Tariff
Act of 1930 [19 U.S.C. 1202 et seq.], the Occupational Safety and
Health A ct of 1970 [20 U.S .C. 651 et se q.], or the Soc ial Security
Act [42 U.S.C. 301 et seq.], by the inflation adjustment described
under section 5 of this Act [bracketed material in original]; and
(2) publish each such regulation in the Federal R egister.
COST- OF- LIVING ADJ USTMEN TS OF CIVIL
MONETARY PENALTIES

S EC. 5. (a) A DJUSTMENT.–The inflation adjustment under section 4
shall be determined by increasing the maximum civil monetary penalty or
the range of minimum and maximum civil monetary penalties, as
applica ble, for e ach civ il mone tary pena lty by the cos t-of-livin g adjus tment.
Any increase determined under this subsection shall be rounded to the
nearest–
(1) multiple of $10 in the case of penalties less than or equal
to $100;
(2) multiple of $100 in the case of penalties greater than $100
but less than or equal to $1,000;
(3) multiple of $1,000 in the case of penalties greater than
$1,000 but less than or equal to $10,000;
(4) multiple of $5,000 in the case of penalties greater than
$10,000 but less than or equal to $100,000;
(5) multiple of $10,000 in the case of penalties greater than
$100,000 but less than or equal to $200,000; and
(6) multiple of $25,000 in the case of penalties greater than
$200,000.
(b) D EFINITION.–For purposes of s ubsection (a), the term
“cost-of-livin g adjustme nt” mean s the percen tage (if any) fo r each civil
monetary penalty by which–
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(1) the Consumer Price Index for the month of June of the
calendar year preceding the adjustment, exceeds
(2) the Consumer Price Index for the month of June of the
calendar year in which the amount o f such civil m onetary pena lty
was last set or adjusted pursuant to law.
ANNUAL REPORT

S EC. 6. Any increa se under th is Act in a civ il monetary pen alty shall
apply only to violatio ns which occur afte r the date the in crease take s effect.
L IMITATION ON INITIAL A DJUSTMENT.–The first a djustment o f a civil
mon etary p enal ty . . . may not exc eed 1 0 percen t of such penalty.
28 U.S.C. § 2461 note.
7 C.F.R .:
TITLE 7—AGRICULTURE
SUBTITLE A—OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF AGRICULTURE
....
PART 3—DEBT MANAGEMENT
....
Subpart E—Adjusted Civil Monetary Penalties
§ 3.91 Adjusted civil monetary penalties.
(a) In general. The Secretary will adjust the civil mon etary
penalties, listed in paragraph (b), to take account of inflation at least once
every 4 years as required by the Federal Civil Penalties Inflation
Adjustment Act of 1990 (Pub. L. No. 101-410), as amended by the Debt
Collection Improve ment Act of 19 96 (Pub. L. No . 104-134).
(b) Penalties– . . . .
....
(2) Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service. . . .
....
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(vii) Civil penalty for a violation of Horse Protection Act, codified
at 15 U .S.C. 18 25(b)(1 ), has a m aximu m of $ 2,200[ .]
7 C.F.R. § 3.91(a), (b)(2)(vii).
9 C.F.R .:
TITLE 9—ANIMALS AND ANIMAL PRODUCTS
CHAPTER I—ANIMAL AND PLANT HEALTH INSPECTION SERVICE,
DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE
SUBCHAPTER A—ANIMAL WELFARE
....
PART 11—HORSE PROTECTION REGULATIONS
§ 11.1 Definitions.
For the purpose of this part, unless the context otherwise requires,
the follow ing terms sh all have the m eanings as signed to the m in this
section. The singular form shall also impart the plural and the masculine
form shall also impart the feminine. Words of art undefined in the
following paragraphs shall have the meaning attributed to them by trade
usag e or g ener al usage a s ref lecte d by defin ition in a stand ard d ictio nary,
such as “Web ster’s.”
Act means the Horse Protection Act of 1970 (Pub. L. 91-540) as
amended by the Horse Protection Act Amendments of 1976 (Pub. L.
94-360), 15 U.S.C. 1821 et seq., and any legislation amendatory thereof.
....
Sore when used to describe a horse means:
(1) An irritating or blistering agent has been applied, internally or
externally, by a person to any limb of a horse,
(2) Any burn, cut, or laceration has been inflicted by a person on any
limb of a horse,
(3) A ny tac k, na il, scr ew, or ch emic al ag ent h as be en in jecte d by a
person into or used by a person on any limb of a horse, or
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(4) Any other substance or device has been used by a person on any
limb of a horse or a person has engaged in a practice involving a horse, and,
as a result of such application, infliction, injection, use, or practice, such
horse suffers, or can reasonably be expected to suffer, physical pain or
distress, inflammation, or lameness when walking, trotting, or otherwise
moving, except that such term does not include such an application,
infliction, injectio n, use, or prac tice in conn ection with the therape utic
treatment of a horse by or u nder the su pervision o f a person licensed to
practice veterinary medicine in the State in which such treatment was given.
....
§ 11.3 Scar rule.
The sc ar rule a pplies to all horse s born o n or afte r Octob er 1, 197 5.
Horses su bject to this rule th at do not m eet the follow ing scar rule c riteria
shall be considered to be “sore” and are subject to all prohibitions of section
5 of the Act. The scar rule criteria are as follows:
(a) The anterior and anterior-lateral surfaces of the fore pasterns
(extensor surface) must be free of bilateral granulomas, other bilateral
pathological evidence of inflammation, and, other bilateral evidence of
abuse indicative of soring including, but not limited to, excessive loss of
hair.
9 C.F.R. §§ 11.1, .3(a) (fo otnote omitted).
CHIE F ADM INISTR ATIVE LAW JUDG E’S
INITIAL DECISION AND ORDER
(AS RESTATED)
Respondent failed to file an answer within the time prescribed in section 1.136(a)
of the Rules of Practice (7 C.F.R. § 1.136(a)). Section 1.136(c) of the Rules of Practice
(7 C.F.R. § 1.136(c)) provides that the failure to file an answer within the time provided
under 7 C.F.R. § 1.136(a) shall be deemed an admission of the allegations in the
complaint. Further, pursuan t to section 1.139 of the R ules of Practice (7 C.F.R . § 1.139),
the failure to file a timely answer constitutes a waiver of hearing. Accordingly, the
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material allegations of the Complaint that relate to Respondent are adopted as Findings of
Fact, and this Decision and Order as to Phillip Trimble is issued pursuant to section 1.139
of the Rules of P ractice (7 C.F.R. § 1.139).
Findings of Fact
1.

Respondent is an individual whose mailing address is 1825 41A,

Shelbyville, Te nnessee 3 7160. A t all times mate rial to this Dec ision and O rder as to
Phillip T rimble, R espon dent w as the tra iner of a horse k nown as “Pu shove r The T op.”
2.

Respondent entered “Pushover The Top” for the purpose of showing or

exhibiting the horse as entry number 186 in class number 48, on April 29, 2000, at the
2nd Annual Gulf Coast Charity Celebration Walking Horse Show in Panama City Beach,
Florida, while the horse was sore.
Conclusions of Law
1.

The Secretary of A griculture has jurisdiction in this matter.

2.

By reason of the facts set forth in the Findings of Fact in this Decision and

Order as to Phillip Trimble, Respondent has violated section 5(2)(B) of the Horse
Protection Act (15 U.S.C. § 1824(2)(B)) by entering “Pushover The Top” while the horse
was sore as defin ed in se ction 11 .3(a) of the Ho rse Pro tection R egulatio ns (9 C .F.R. §
11.3(a)).
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ADDITIONAL CONCLUSIONS BY THE JUDICIAL OFFICER
Respondent raises two issues in his “Motion to Set Aside the Decision and Order
as to Philip Trimble” [hereinafter Appeal Petition]. First, Respondent asserts he had no
notice th at the C ompla int had b een file d until F ebruar y 3, 2003 , when Paul W arren, a
United States Department of Agriculture representative, personally served Respondent
with the Initial Decision and Order, Complainant’s Motion for Default Decision, and a
cover letter from the Hearing Clerk (Appeal Pet.; Affidavit of Philip Sebastian Trimble ¶¶
3-5).
On February 5, 2002, the Hearing Clerk sent a copy of the Complaint, a copy of
the Rules of Practice, and a service letter by certified mail to Respondent at 1825 41A,
Shelbyville, Tennessee 37160. Alfonso Avila signed the Domestic Return Receipt
attached to the envelope containing the Complaint, Rules of Practice, and service letter
and indicated on the Domestic Return Receipt that the United States Postal Service
delivered the certified mailing on February 10, 2002.6 Respondent asserts: (1) he has not
lived at 1825 41A, Shelbyville, Tennessee, since January 16, 2001, when he was
employed by Silverstone Stables; and (2) from January 16, 2001, to the present, he has
resided at 33 5 Malo ne Road , Pulaski, Te nnessee, w here he is em ployed by Trim ble
Stables. Re sponden t argues, bas ed on thes e facts, the H earing Cle rk failed to p roperly

6

See note 2.
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serve him with the Complaint. (Appeal Pet.; Affidavit of Philip Sebastian Trimble ¶¶
1-2; O fficial M ail Forw arding Chan ge of A ddress Form.)
Complainant responds that the Hearing Clerk properly served Respondent with the
Comp laint becaus e, at the time the Hearing Clerk ma iled the Co mplaint to R esponde nt,
Respondent’s last known principal place of business was 1825 41A, Shelbyville,
Tennessee 37160 (Response to Appeal Pet. at 3). In support of this response,
Complainant attached to the Response to Appeal Petition, an affidavit given by
Michael K. Nottingham, a United States Department of Agriculture investigator, on
June 15, 2000, in which he states he interviewed Respondent on June 15, 2000, at Silver
Stone Sta bles, Shelbyville, T ennessee . Compla inant also attac hed to the R esponse to
Appeal Petition an unsigned statement, which Respondent gave to Michael K.
Nottingham on June 15, 2000, in which Respondent states his address is 1825 41A,
Shelbyville, Tennessee, 37160, where he has been employed by Silverstone Training
Center as a horse trainer for 2 years (Affidavit of Michael K. Nottingham; Unsigned
Statement of Phillip Trim ble).
Section 1.1 47(c)(1) of the Rules o f Practice p rovides tha t a compla int is deeme d to
be received by a party on the date of delivery by certified mail to the last known principal
place of business of the party, as follows:
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§ 1.147 Filing; service; extensions of time; and computation of time.
....
(c) Service on party other than the Secretary. (1) Any complaint or
other docu ment initially serve d on a per son to ma ke that perso n a party
respondent in a proceeding, proposed decision and motion for adoption
thereof upon failure to file an answer or other admission of all material
allegations of fact contained in a complaint, initial decision, final decision,
appeal pe tition filed by the D epartmen t, or other doc ument sp ecifically
ordered by the Judge to be served by certified or registered mail, shall be
deemed to be rec eived by any party to a proceeding, other than th e Secretary
or agent thereof, on the date of delivery by certified or registered mail to the
last known principal place of business of such party, last known principal
place of business of the attorney or representative of record of such party, or
last kno wn res idence of suc h party if a n indiv idual, Provided that, if any
such document or paper is sent by certified or registered mail but is returned
marked b y the postal servic e as unclaim ed or refus ed, it shall be de emed to
be received by such party on the date of remailing by ordinary mail to the
same address.
7 C.F.R. § 1.147(c)(1 ).
Based on the record before me, I conclude the United States Postal Service
delivered the Complaint by certified mail on February 10, 2002, to Respondent’s last
known principal place of business. Alfonso Avila signed the Domestic Return Receipt
attached to th e envelop e containin g the Com plaint. 7 The Hearing Clerk properly serves a
document in accordance with the Rules of Practice when a party to a proceeding, other
than the Secretary, is served with a certified mailing at the party’s last known principal
place of b usiness and someon e signs for th e docum ent. 8 Therefore, the H earing Clerk
7

See note 2.

8

In re Roy Carter, 46 Agric. D ec. 207, 21 1 (1987); In re Carl D. Cuttone,
(contin ued...)
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properly served Respondent with the Complaint in accordance with section 1.147(c)(1) of
the Rules o f Practice (7 C.F.R. § 1 .147(c)(1)) o n Februa ry 10, 2002, an d Respo ndent is
deemed to have had notice of the Complaint on February 10, 2002.
Sections 1.136(c) and 1.139 of the Rules of Practice clearly state the consequences
of failing to file a timely answer, as follows:
§ 1.136 Answer.
....
(c)
Default. Failure to file an answer within the time provided
under § 1.136(a) shall be deemed, for purposes of the proceeding, an
admission of the allegations in the Complaint, and failure to deny or
otherwise respond to an allegation of the Complaint shall be deemed, for
purposes of the proceeding, an admission of said allegation, unless the
parties have agreed to a consent decision pursuant to § 1.138.
§ 1.139 Procedure upon failure to file an answer or admission of facts.
The failur e to file an an swer, or the admission by the answ er of all
the material allegations of fact contained in the complaint, shall constitute a
waiver of hearing. Upon such admission or failure to file, complainant
shall file a proposed decision, along with a motion for the adoption thereof,
both of which shall be served upon th e respo ndent b y the Hea ring Cl erk.
Within 20 days after service of such motion and proposed decision, the
respondent may file with the Hearing Clerk objections thereto. If the Judge
finds that meritorious objections have been filed, complainant’s Motion
shall be denied with supporting reasons. If meritorious objections are not
filed, the Judge shall issue a decision without further procedure or hearing.
7 C.F.R. §§ 1.136(c), .139.

8

(...continued)
44 Ag ric. Dec . 1573, 1 576 (1 985), aff’d per curiam, 804 F.2d 153 (D.C. Cir. 1986)
(unpublish ed); In re Joseph Buzun, 43 Agric. Dec. 751 , 754-56 (1984).
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Moreover, the Complaint served on Respondent on February 10, 2002, informs
Respondent of the consequences of failing to file a timely answer, as follows:
The respondents shall file an answer with the Hearing Clerk, United States
Department of Agriculture, Washington, D.C. 20250-9200, in accordance
with th e Rule s of Pra ctice go vernin g proce edings under t he Ac t (7 C.F .R. §
1.130 et seq.). Failure to file a n answe r shall constitute an admiss ion of all
the material a llegations of this compla int.
Compl. at 3.
Similarly, the Hearing Clerk informed Respondent in the service letter, which
accompanied the Complaint and Rules of Practice, that a timely answer must be filed, as
follows:
CERTIFIED RECEIPT REQUESTED
February 5, 2002
Darrall S. McCulloch
288 Kent Road
Tallassee, Alabama 36078

Phillip Trim ble
Silverstone Training, L.L.C.
1825 41A
Shelbyville, Tennessee 37160

Dear Messrs. McCulloch and Trimble:
Subject:

In re: Darrall S. McCulloch, Phillip Trimble and Silverstone
Training, L .L.C.; Resp ondents - HPA Docket No. 02-0002

Enclosed is a copy of the Complaint, which has been filed with this office
under the H orse Protec tion Act.
Also enclosed is a copy of the Rules of Practice, which govern the conduct
of these proceedings. You should familiarize yourself with the Rules in that
the comments which follow are not a substitute for their exact requirements.

19
The Rules specify that you may represent yourself personally or by an
attorney of rec ord. Unles s an attorney files an appea rance in your b ehalf, it
shall be presum ed that yo u have elected to repre sent your self per sonally.
Most importantly, you have 20 days from the receipt of this letter to file
with the Hearing Clerk an original and three copies of your written and
signed Answer to the Complaint.
It is necessary that your answer set forth any defense you wish to assert, and
to spec ifically adm it, deny or e xplain e ach alle gation o f the C ompla int.
Your Answer may include a request for an oral hearing. Failure to file an
Answer or filing an Answer which does not deny the material allegations of
the Complaint, shall constitute an admission of those allegations and a
waiver of your right to an oral hearing.
In the event this proceeding does go to hearing, the hearing shall be formal
in nature and will be held and the case decided by an Administrative Law
Judge on the basis of exhibits received in evidence and sworn testimony
subject to cross-examination.
You must notify us of any future address changes. Failure to do so may
result in a judgm ent bein g entere d again st you wit hout you r know ledge.
We also need your p resent and future telepho ne number.
Your Answer, as well as any motions or requests that you may hereafter
wish to file in this proceeding, should be submitted in quadruplicate to the
Hearing Clerk, OALJ, Room 1081, South Building, United States
Department of Agriculture, Washington, D.C. 20250-9200.
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Questions you may have respecting the possible settlement of this case,
should be directed to the attorney whose name and telephone number
appears o n the last pag e of the C omplaint.
Sinc erely,
/s/
Joyce A. Dawson
Hearing Clerk
Letter dated February 5, 2002, from Joyce A. Dawson, Hearing Clerk, Office of
Administrative Law Judges, United States Department of Agriculture, to Respondent
(emphasis in original).
Respondent’s answer was due no later than March 4, 2002.9 Respondent’s first
filing in this proceeding is dated February 13, 2003, and was filed February 20, 2003,

9

Section 1.136(a) of the Rules of Practice (7 C.F.R. § 1.136(a)) provides that an
answer must be filed within 20 days after service of the complaint. Twenty days after
February 10, 2002, was March 2, 2002. However, March 2, 2002, was a Saturday, and
section 1.147(h) of the Rules of Practice provides that when the time for filing expires on
a Saturday, the time for filing shall be extended to the next business day, as follows:
§ 1.147 Filing; service; extensions of time; and computation of time.
....
(h) Computation of time. Satu rdays , Sun days a nd F eder al ho lidays
shall be included in computing the time allowed for the filing of any
docume nt or paper: Provided, Tha t, wh en su ch tim e exp ires o n a Saturday,
Sunday, or Federal holiday, such period shall be extended to include the
next foll owing business d ay.
7 C.F.R. § 1.147(h ).
The n ext bus iness da y after Sa turday, M arch 2, 2 002, w as Mo nday, M arch 4, 2 002.
Therefore, Respondent was required to file his answer no later than March 4, 2002.
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1 year 10 days after the Hearing Clerk served Respondent with the Complaint and
11 months 16 days after Respondent’s answer was due. Respondent’s failure to file a
timely ans wer is d eemed an adm ission o f the alle gations of the C ompla int (7 C .F.R. §
1.136(a), (c)) and constitutes a waiver of hearing (7 C.F.R. § 1.139, .141(a)). Therefore,
Respondent is deemed, for the purposes of this proceeding, to have admitted the
allegations o f the Com plaint.
On M arch 11, 20 02, the He aring Clerk sent a letter to R esponde nt informin g him
that his answer to the Complaint had not been received within the allotted time.10
Respondent failed to respond to the Hearing Clerk’s March 11, 2002, letter. On
October 11, 2002, Complainant filed a Motion for Default Decision and a Proposed
Default Decision. On November 19, 2002, the Hearing Clerk served Respondent with a
copy of Comp lainant’s Motion for D efault Decision and a copy of Com plainant’s
Proposed Default Decision by ordinary mail in accordance with section 1.147(c)(1) of the
Rules of Practice (7 C .F.R. § 1.147(c)(1)). 11 Respon dent failed to file objection s to
Comp lainant’s M otion for D efault De cision and C omplaina nt’s Propo sed Def ault
Decision within 20 days after service, as provided in section 1.139 of the Rules of
Practice (7 C.F.R. § 1.13 9).

10

See note 3.

11

See note 4.
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On De cember 3 0, 2002, the Chief A LJ issued th e Initial Decis ion and O rder in
which the Chief ALJ found Respondent admitted the allegations in the Complaint by
reason of default.
Although, on rare occasions, default decisions have been set aside for good cause
shown or where the complainant states that the complainant does not object to setting
aside the default decision,12 generally there is no basis for setting aside a default decision

12

See In re D ale Goo dale, 60 Agric. Dec. 670 (2001) (Remand Order) (setting
aside the de fault decisio n becaus e the adm inistrative law judge ado pted appa rently
inconsistent findings of a dispositive fact in the default decision, and the order in the
default de cision wa s not clear); In re Deora Sewnanan, 60 Agric. Dec. 688 (2001)
(setting aside the default decision because the respondent was not served with the
complain t); In re H. Schnell & Co., 57 Agric. Dec. 1722 (1998) (Remand Order) (setting
aside the default decision, which was based upon the respondent’s statements during two
telephone confere nce calls with the adm inistrative law judge and the c omplainant’s
counsel, because the respondent’s statements did not constitute a clear admission of the
material allegations in the complaint and concluding that the default decision deprived the
respondent of its right to due process under the Fifth Amendment to the Constitution of
the United States); In re Arizona Livestock Auction, Inc., 55 Agric. Dec. 1121 (1996)
(setting aside the default decision because facts alleged in the complaint and deemed
admitted by failure to answer were not sufficient to find a violation of the Packers and
Stockyards A ct or jurisdiction over the m atter by the Secr etary of Agric ulture); In re
Veg-Pro Distributors, 42 Agric. Dec. 273 (1983) (Remand Order) (setting aside the
default decision because service of the complaint by registered and regular mail was
returned as undeliverable, and the respondent’s license under the PACA had lapsed
before service was att empte d), final decision, 42 Agric. D ec. 1173 (1 983); In re Vaughn
Gallop, 40 Agric. Dec. 217 (1981) (Order Vacating Default Decision and Remanding
Proceeding) (vacating the default decision and remanding the case to the administrative
law jud ge to de termine wheth er just ca use exi sts for p ermitting late answ er), final
decision, 40 Agric. D ec. 1254 (1 981); In re J. Fleishman & Co., 38 Agric. Dec. 789
(1978) (Remand Order) (remanding the proceeding to the administrative law judge for the
purpose of receiving evidence because the complainant had no objection to the
respon dent’s m otion fo r reman d), final decision, 37 Agric. D ec. 1175 (1 978); In re
(contin ued...)
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that is based upon a resp ondent’s failure to file a timely answe r.13 The Rules of Practice
clearly provide that an answer must be filed within 20 days after service of the complaint
(7 C.F.R. § 1.136(a)). Respondent’s first filing in this proceeding was filed 1 year
12

(...continued)
Richard C ain, 17 Agric. Dec. 985 (1958) (Order Reopening After Default) (setting aside
a default decision and accepting a late-filed answer because the complainant did not
object to the responden t’s motion to reopen after d efault).
13

See generally In re Stephen Douglas Bolton (Decision and Order as to Stephen
Dougla s Bolton), 5 8 Agric. D ec. 254 (19 99) (holdin g the defa ult decision w as properly
issued where the respondent’s first filing in the proceeding was filed 54 days after the
complaint was served on the respondent and 34 days after the respondent’s answer was
due and the respondent is deemed, by his failure to file a timely answer, to have admitted
violating 15 U.S.C. § 1 824(2)(B )); In re Dean Byard, 56 Agric. Dec. 1543 (1997)
(holding the default decision was properly issued where the respondent failed to file an
answer and the respondent is deemed, by his failure to file an answer, to have admitted
violating 15 U.S.C. § 1 824(2)(B )); In re Gerald Funches, 56 Agric. Dec. 517 (1997)
(holding the default de cision wa s properly issued where th e respond ent’s first and only
filing in the proceeding was filed 94 days after the complaint was served on the
respondent and the respondent is deemed, by his failure to file a timely answer, to have
admitted v iolating 15 U .S.C. §§ 18 24(1) and 1824(2)(B )); In re Billy Jacobs, Sr., 56
Agric. Dec. 504 (1996) (holding the default decision was properly issued where the
response to the complaint was filed more than 9 months after service of the complaint on
the respon dent and th e respond ent is deem ed, by his failure to file a timely ans wer, to
have a dmitted violatin g 15 U .S.C. § 1 825(c) ), appeal dismissed, No. 96-7124 (11 th Cir.
June 16, 1 997); In re Donald D. Richards, 52 Agric. Dec. 1207 (1993) (holding the
default decision was properly issued where a timely answer was not filed and the
respondent is deemed, by his failure to file a timely answer, to have admitted violating
15 U.S.C . § 1824(2 )(B)); In re A.P. H olt (Decision as to A.P. Holt), 50 Agric. Dec. 1612
(1991) (holding the default decision was properly issued where the respondent was given
an extension of time to file an answer, but the answer was not filed until 69 days after the
extended date for filing the answer and the respondent is deemed, by his failure to file a
timely answe r, to have ad mitted violatin g 15 U.S .C. § 1824 (2)(B)); In re Jerry Seal, 39
Agric. D ec. 370 (19 80) (holdin g the defa ult decision w as properly issue d where a timely
answer was n ot filed and the respond ent is deemed, by his failure to file a timely answ er,
to have admitted violating 15 U.S.C. § 1824 and section 11.2 of the Horse Protection
Regulations (9 C.F .R. § 11.2)).
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10 days after the Hearing Clerk served Respondent with the Complaint and 11 months
16 days after Respondent’s answer was due. Respondent’s failure to file a timely answer
is deemed, for the purposes of this proceeding, an admission of the allegations of the
Complaint (7 C.F.R. § 1.136(c)) and constitutes a waiver of hearing (7 C.F.R. § 1.139,
.141(a)). Therefore, there are no issues of fact on which a meaningful hearing could be
held in this proceeding, and the Chief AL J properly issued the Initial Decision and O rder.
Second, Respondent contends his constitutional right to due process has been
violated and requests the opportunity to answer the Complaint (Appeal Pet.; Affidavit of
Philip Sebastian Trimb le ¶ 5).
To meet the requirement of due process of law, it is only necessary that notice of a
proceedin g be sent in a manner “ reasonab ly calculated, und er all the circum stances, to
apprise intere sted parties of the pende ncy of the actio n and aff ord them a n opportu nity to
present their objections.” Mullane v. Central Hanover Bank & Trust Co., 339 U.S. 306,
314 (1950). 14 The Rules of Practice, which provides for service by certified mail to a
respondent’s last known principal place of business or last known residence, which

14

See also Weigner v. City of New York, 852 F .2d 646 , 649-5 1 (2d C ir. 1988 ), cert.
denied, 488 U.S. 1005 (1989) (the reasonableness and hence constitutional validity of any
chosen m ethod of p roviding n otice may be d efended on the gro und that it is in itse lf
reasonably certain to inform those affected; the state’s obligation to use notice
“reasonably certain to inform those affected” does not mean that all risk of non-receipt
must be elim inated); NLRB v. Clark, 468 F.2d 459, 463-65 (5th Cir. 1972) (due process
does not require receipt of a ctual notice in every case).
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proced ure wa s follow ed in this procee ding, m eets the r equirem ents of due pro cess of law.
As held in Stateside M achinery C o., Ltd. v. Alpe rin, 591 F.2d 234, 24 1-42 (3d Cir. 1979 ):
Whether a method of service of process accords an intended
recipien t with d ue proc ess dep ends o n “wh ether or not the f orm of . . .
service [used] is reasonably calculated to give him actual notice of the
proceedings and an opportunity to be heard.” Milliken, 311 U.S. at 463, 61
S. Ct. at 343 (emphas is added); see Mullane v. Central Hanover Bank &
Trust Co., 339 U.S. 306, 315, 70 S. Ct. 652, 94 L.Ed. 865 (1950). As long
as a method of service is reasonably certain to notify a person, the fact that
the person nevertheless fails to receive process does not invalidate the
service on due process grounds. In this case, Alperin attempted to deliver
process by registered mail to defendant’s last known address. That
procedure is a highly reliable means of providing notice of pending legal
proceedings to an adverse party. That Speigel nevertheless failed to receive
service is irrelevant as a matter of constitutional law. [Omission and
emph asis in or iginal.]
Similarly, in Fancher v. Fancher, 8 Ohio App. 3d 79, 455 N.E. 2d 1344, 1346
(1982), the court held:
It is immaterial that the certified mail receipt was signed by the
defenda nt’s brother, an d that his bro ther was n ot specifically au thorized to
do so. The envelope was addressed to the defendant’s address and was
there received; this is sufficient to comport with the requirements of due
process that methods of service be reasonably calculated to reach interested
parties. See Mullane v. Central Hanover Bank & Trust Co. (1950), 339
U.S. 30 6, 314, 7 0 S. Ct. 6 52, 94 L .Ed. 86 5. [Foo tnote om itted.]
Application of the default provisions of the Rules of Practice does not deprive
Respondent of his rights under the due process clause of the Fifth Amendment to the
United States Constitution.15

15

See United States v. Hulings, 484 F. Supp. 562, 567-68 (D. Kan. 1980)
(contin ued...)
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For the foregoing reasons, the following Order should be issued.
ORDER
1.

Respondent is assessed a civil penalty of $2,200. The civil penalty shall be

paid by certified check or money order, made payable to the “Treasurer of the United
States” and sent to:
Sharlene Deskins
United States Dep artment of Agricu lture
Office of the General Counsel
Marketing Division
1400 Independence Avenue, SW
Room 2343-South Building
Washington, DC 20250-1417
Respondent’s pa ymen t of th e civ il pen alty sh all be forw arde d to, a nd re ceiv ed by,
Ms. De skins within 60 days after s ervice of th is Order on Respon dent. Resp ondent sh all
indicate on the certified check or money order that payment is in reference to HPA
Docket No. 02-0002.

15

(...continued)
(concluding that a hearing was not required under the Fifth Amendment to the United
States Constitution where the respondent was notified that failure to deny the allegations
of the complaint would constitute an admission of those allegations under the Rules of
Practice and the respon dent fa iled to sp ecifica lly deny the a llegation s). See also Father &
Sons Lumber and Building Supplies, Inc. v. NLRB, 931 F.2d 1093, 1096 (6th Cir. 1991)
(stating that due process gene rally does not entitle parties to an evidentiary hearing wh ere
the National Labo r Relations Board h as properly determined that a def ault summary
judgmen t is appropriate due to a pa rty’s failure to file a tim ely response); Kirk v. INS, 927
F.2d 1106, 1108 (9th Cir. 1991) (rejecting the contention that the administrative law
judge erred by issuing a de fault judgm ent based o n a party’s failure to file a timely
answer).
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2.

Respondent is disqualified for 1 year from showing, exhibiting, or entering

any horse, directly or indirectly through any agent, employee, corporation, partnership, or
other device, and from judging, managing, or otherwise participating in any horse show,
horse exhibition, horse sale, or horse auction. “Participating” means engaging in any
activity beyond that of a spectator, and includes, without limitation: (1) transporting, or
arranging for the transportation of, horses to or from equine events; (2) personally giving
instructions to exhibitors; (3) being present in the warm-up or inspection areas or in any
area whe re spectators are not allow ed; and (4) f inancing th e participation of others in
equine ev ents. This dis qualification shall continu e until the civil p enalty assessed in
paragraph 1 of this O rder and any costs associated w ith collecting the civil penalty are
paid in full.
The disqualification of Respondent shall become effective on the 60th day after
service of th is Order on Respon dent.
3.

Respondent has the right to obtain review of this Order in the court of

appeals of the United States for the circuit in which he resides or has his place of business
or in the United States Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia Circuit. Respondent
must file a notice of appeal in such court within 30 days from the date of this Order and
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must simultaneously send a c opy of the notice of app eal by certified mail to the Secretary
of Agriculture.16 The date of this Order is March 27, 2003.
Done at Washington, DC
March 27, 2003

______________________________
William G. Jenson
Judicial Officer

16

See 15 U.S.C. § 18 25(b)(2), (c).
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